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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

THE EQUAL RIGHTS CENTER,
Plaintiff,
v.
EQUITY RESIDENTIAL, et al.,
Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 1:06-cv-01060-CCB

STATEMENT OF INTEREST OF THE UNITED STATES
The United States respectfully submits this Statement of Interest pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
517 to address questions of law concerning Plaintiff Equal Rights Center’s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (ECF No. 228) that eight multifamily residential properties violate the
design and construction provisions of the Fair Housing Act (“Act”). 1 See 42 U.S.C. §§
3604(f)(3)(C).
I. INTEREST OF THE UNITED STATES
In 1988, Congress amended the Fair Housing Act to, inter alia, make it unlawful to
discriminate in housing on the basis of disability and defined “discrimination” to include the
failure to design and construct certain multi-family dwellings so that they would be accessible to
and usable by persons with disabilities. See 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(C). The United States has
important enforcement responsibilities under the Act. For example, the Attorney General may
initiate civil proceedings on behalf of the United States in cases alleging a “pattern or practice”
1

Under 28 U.S.C. § 517, “[t]he Solicitor General, or any officer of the Department of
Justice, may be sent by the Attorney General to any State or district in the United States to attend
to the interests of the United States in a suit pending in a court of the United States, or in a court
of a State, or to attend to any other interest of the United States.”
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of housing discrimination. 42 U.S.C. § 3614(a). Additionally, the Attorney General “shall
commence and maintain a civil action” on behalf of an aggrieved person who has filed a
complaint of housing discrimination with the Department of Housing and Urban Development
(“HUD”), where HUD has made a determination of reasonable cause and the complainant or
respondent has elected to proceed in federal court. See 42 U.S.C. § 3612(o). Furthermore,
private litigation under the Act is an important supplement to government enforcement. See
Trafficante v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205, 211 (1972); 42 U.S.C. § 3616a (authorizing the
Secretary of HUD to contract with private, non-profit fair housing organizations to conduct
testing, investigation, and litigation under the FHA).
II. BACKGROUND
Plaintiffs’ motion concerns eight multifamily residential properties located in California,
Maryland, Massachusetts and Washington, D.C. Pl.’s Mem. in Supp. Mot. Partial Summ. J. 22,
ECF No. 228-1. There is no dispute that these eight properties are covered by and are subject to
the Fair Housing Act’s accessibility requirements: each has four or more units and was designed
and constructed for first occupancy after March 13, 1991. 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604(f)(3)(C),
3604(f)(7).
Plaintiff’s inspections of these properties revealed violations of each of the Act’s design
and requirements, including the lack of an accessible building entrance, inaccessible common
and public use areas, the lack of an accessible route into and through units, doors that were not
usable by persons in wheelchairs, inaccessible environmental controls, inaccessible kitchens and
bathrooms, and the lack of reinforced bathroom walls that would support installation of grab
bars. Expert Report of Phill Zook 6-7, ECF No. 228-14. Defendants’ experts do not dispute that
most of the accessibility barriers identified by Plaintiff do not comply with HUD-recognized
2
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accessibility standards for multifamily housing. Rather, they found that most violations were, in
their judgment, “minor deviations,” that the housing was “usable” by people with disabilities
notwithstanding the violations, or that the violations could be modified. See, e.g., Expert Report
of David Kessler, ECF Nos. 235-7, 235-8, 235-9; Expert Report of Mariesha Blazik, ECF No.
235-10. 2
III. ARGUMENT
A. The Fair Housing Act Requires Compliance with Objective Design and
Construction Standards________________________________________
1. The Act’s Design and Construction Requirements
The Fair Housing Act defines “discrimination” as including the failure to “design and
construct” covered multifamily dwellings 3 built for first occupancy after March 13, 1991 without
basic accessibility and usability features for persons with disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(C).
The Act’s requirements for accessible design and construction are as follows:
(i) the public use and common use portions of such dwellings are readily accessible to
and usable by handicapped persons;
(ii) all the doors designed to allow passage into and within all premises within such
dwellings are sufficiently wide to allow passage by handicapped persons in wheelchairs;
and
(iii) all premises within such dwellings contain the following features of adaptive design:
(I) an accessible route into and through the dwelling;

2

Mr. Kessler and Ms. Blazik disputed a small number of the violations found by Plaintiff
and alleged that they were, in fact, in compliance. Such isolated factual disputes would not
defeat Defendants’ liability, but instead would go to the scope of injunctive relief the Court
would order.
3

“Covered multifamily dwellings” are units in “buildings consisting of 4 or more units if
such buildings have one or more elevators” or “ground floor units in other buildings consisting
of 4 or more units.” 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(7).
3
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(II) light switches, electrical outlets, thermostats, and other environmental
controls in accessible locations;
(III) reinforcements in bathroom walls to allow later installation of grab bars; and
(IV) usable kitchens and bathrooms such that an individual
in a wheelchair can maneuver about the space.
Id. Designers and builders may demonstrate compliance with these provisions by following the
appropriate requirements of the American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) A117.1 (1986).
42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(4).
These provisions reflect “a national commitment to end the unnecessary exclusion of
persons with handicaps from the American mainstream . . .” H.R. Rep. No. 100-711 at 18 (1988),
reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2173, 2186. They also reflect Congress’ recognition that
unintended barriers may be just as exclusionary as intentional discrimination: “A person using a
wheelchair is just as excluded from the opportunity to live in a particular dwelling by the lack of
access into the unit and too narrow doorways as by a sign posted saying ‘No Handicapped
People Allowed.’” Id. at 25. 4 As one court has observed:
The purpose of the accessibility requirements in the FHAA was to prevent
discrimination against persons with disabilities. Unlike some other forms of
discrimination, the built environment itself creates a barrier to equal access for
persons with mobility impairments, which may be difficult or costly to fix down
the road. The only way to prevent such discrimination, therefore, is through
careful consideration – during the early stages of design – of accessibility
concerns.

4

Throughout this brief, the United States uses the term “disability” instead of
“handicap.” For purposes of the Act, the terms have the same meaning. See Bragdon v. Abbott,
524 U.S. 624, 631 (1998) (definition of “disability” under Americans with Disabilities Act taken
almost verbatim from definition of “handicap” under Fair Housing Act); Helen L. v. DiDario, 46
F.3d 325, 330 n. 8 (3d Cir.) (“The change in nomenclature from ‘handicap’ to ‘disability’ reflects
Congress’ awareness that individuals with disabilities find the term ‘handicapped’
objectionable.”), cert. denied sub nom., Pa. Sec’y of Pub. Welf. v. Idell S., 516 U.S. 813 (1995).
4
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United States v. Shanrie Co., No. 05-CV-306-DRH, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23587, *20 (S.D. Ill.
Mar. 30, 2007).
2. The HUD Fair Housing Amendments Act Guidelines
The Act delegates to the Secretary of HUD “[t]he authority and responsibility for
administering” the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 3608(a). The Act further delegates rulemaking authority to
HUD, 42 U.S.C. § 3614a, and states that HUD “shall provide technical assistance” to implement
the Act’s accessibility requirements. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(5)(C).
Pursuant to this authority, HUD, after notice and comment, issued the Fair Housing
Amendments Act Guidelines (“Guidelines”). 56 Fed. Reg. 9472-9515 (Mar. 6, 1991), codified
at 24 C.F.R. Ch. I, Subch. A, App. II (Apr. 1, 1995). The Guidelines “provide technical
guidance on designing dwelling units as required by the Fair Housing Amendments Act of
1988.” 56 Fed. Reg. 9499. The Guidelines set out the “minimum standards of compliance with
the specific accessibility requirements of the [Act].” Id. at 9476. They include, among other
specifications, maximum heights for thresholds, maximum running slopes and cross-slopes along
accessible routes and ramps, minimum door widths to allow a person in a wheelchair to pass, the
amount of clear floor space necessary for a person in a wheelchair to use a kitchen or bathroom,
and maximum and minimum heights for switches, outlets and other environmental controls. Id.
at 9503-9515. In developing the Guidelines, “HUD solicited and considered comments by
‘several national, State and local organizations and agencies, private firms, and individuals that
have been involved in the development of State and local accessibility codes,’ as well as ‘a

5
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number of disability organizations.’” 5 United States v. Tanski, No. 1:04-CV-714, 2007 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 23606, *42-43 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2007) (quoting 56 Fed. Reg. 9475).
HUD has also stated that compliance with a “comparable standard,” i.e., one that “affords
handicapped persons access essentially equivalent to or greater than that required by ANSI
A117.1,” would also satisfy the Act’s requirements. 54 Fed. Reg. 3243 (Jan. 23, 1989).
Accordingly, since 1991 HUD has recognized nine other “safe harbors” for compliance: HUD’s
Fair Housing Act Design Manual (1998); the 1986, 1992, 1998 and 2003 versions of ANSI
A117.1; the International Code Council’s 2000 Code Requirements for Housing Accessibility;
the International Building Code as supplemented in July 2001 and March 2003; and the 2006
International Building Code. See 73 Fed. Reg. 63,613-14 (Oct. 24, 2008) (to be codified at 24
C.F.R. pt. 100). The other safe harbors are generally more stringent than the Fair Housing
Accessibility Guidelines and 1986 ANSI A117.1.
3. The Failure to Comply With the Guidelines or “Safe Harbors” Establishes a
Prima Facie Case Under the Fair Housing Act, Which May Be Overcome
Only By Showing Compliance with a Comparable, Objective Accessibility
Standard_________________________________________________________
As HUD has determined, a plaintiff “may establish a prima facie case by proving a
violation of the Guidelines,” which Defendants may overcome only by demonstrating
compliance with “some comparable objective accessibility standard.” HUD v. Nelson, HUD
ALJ 05-068FH, 2006 WL 4540542, *5, 7 (Sept. 21, 2006) (Order on Secretarial Review)
5

These organizations included the Disability Rights Education and Defense Fund, the
Association for Education and Rehabilitation of the Blind and Visually Impaired, the National
Head Injury Association, United Cerebral Palsy Associations, International Association of
Psychological Rehabilitation Facilities, the National Mental Health Association, the American
Paralysis Association, the Association for Retarded Citizens, the National Alliance for the
Mentally Ill, Paralyzed Veterans of America, and the National Organization on Disability. See
56 Fed. Reg. 9475.
6
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(emphasis in original), aff’d, 320 F. App’x 635 (9th Cir. 2009); see also 73 Fed. Reg. 63,614 (“In
enforcing the design and construction requirements of the Fair Housing Act, a prima facie case
may be established by proving a violation of HUD’s Fair Housing Accessibility Guidelines . . .
[and] may be rebutted by demonstrating compliance with a recognized, comparable, objective
measure of accessibility.”).
Because HUD promulgated the Guidelines pursuant to express Congressional regulatory
authority, see supra Section III.A.2, HUD’s determination is entitled to deference. Meyer v.
Holley, 537 U.S. 280, 287 (2003) (HUD is “the federal agency primarily charged with the
implementation and administration of the [Fair Housing Act]” and the Court “ordinarily defer[s]
to an administrating agency’s reasonable interpretation of a statute.”); Chevron U.S.A. v. Natural
Res. Def. Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842-45 (1984); see also United States v. Edward Rose & Sons,
246 F. Supp. 2d 744, 750-51 (E.D. Mich. 2003) (deferring to Guidelines in interpreting Fair
Housing Act), aff’d, 384 F.3d 258, 263 n. 4 (6th Cir. 2004) (affording Chevron deference to
HUD regulatory definitions). HUD’s interpretation of the Act must therefore be followed unless
it is “arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute.” Chevron, 467 U.S. at 844.
There is no inconsistency between using violations of the Guidelines to presume non
compliance with the Act and HUD’s statement that the Guidelines are not mandatory. “The
purpose of the Guidelines is to describe minimum standards of compliance with the specific
accessibility requirements of the Act.” 56 Fed. Reg. 9476. Although a defendant may attempt to
demonstrate compliance with another equivalent accessibility standard, “a plain reading of
section 3604(f)(3)(C) demonstrates that it requires compliance with an objective accessibility
standard broadly applicable to handicapped people.” Tanski, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23606, at
*41 (emphasis added). Thus, “designers and builders that choose to depart from the provisions
7

Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245 Filed 11/13/14 Page 8 of 16

of a specific safe harbor bear the burden of demonstrating that their actions result in compliance
with the Act’s design and construction requirements.” 73 Fed. Reg. 63,614; see also id. at
63,612 (“[D]esigners and builders may continue to use alternative methods of complying, with
the following caveat . . . If a designer or builder does not rely on one of the HUD-recognized safe
harbors, that designer or builder has the burden of demonstrating how its efforts comply with the
accessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act.”).
Courts are in accord and have granted summary judgment to plaintiffs when “a covered
dwelling does not comply with the ANSI standards or the HUD Guidelines, and defendants fail
to submit evidence that the property complies with any other accessibility standard.” Tanski,
2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23606, at *32; United States v. Taigen & Sons, 303 F. Supp. 2d 1129,
1154 (D. Idaho 2003) (summary judgment granted where units did not conform with Guidelines
and defendants “failed to submit evidence in the record that [the subject housing] complies with
any other accessibility standard.”); United States v. Quality Built Constr., 309 F. Supp. 2d 756,
763 (E.D.N.C. 2003) (summary judgment granted where defendants did not “come forward with
alternative measurements or any other evidence to show that a triable issue of fact exists.”);
Baltimore Neighborhoods, Inc. v. Rommel Builders, 40 F. Supp. 2d 700, 713-14 (D. Md. 1999);
Shanrie Co., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23587 at *37 n. 3 & *39-41; Memphis Ctr. for Indep.
Living v. Richard and Milton Grant Co., No. 2:01-CV-2069, slip op. at 8 (W.D. Tenn. Apr. 27,
2004) (“If a construction feature does not comply with the Guidelines, then the housing provider
defending an FHA violation has the burden of showing that the feature is nonetheless accessible
… by meeting a ‘comparable standard’ – i.e., one that provides ‘access essentially equivalent to
or greater than required by ANSI A117.1.’”) (citation omitted) (attached as Exhibit 1).

8

Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245 Filed 11/13/14 Page 9 of 16

4. Defendants May Not Defeat Liability by Showing That Certain Individuals
Are Able to Access the Properties or By Claiming That the Violations Are
Minor___________________________________________________________
Notwithstanding numerous undisputed violations of the Guidelines, Defendants claim
that they complied with the Act because some persons with disabilities are able to access
Defendants’ properties or because, in their opinion, the violations are minor and do not inhibit
access for persons with disabilities. For example, Defendants’ designated expert, Alison
Vredenbergh, has opined that “specific property features that do not directly fall within a safe
harbor, other code provisions or reasonable tolerance are nonetheless accessible, usable or easily
adaptable in a tailored way for persons with disabilities.” Defs.’ Mem. in Opp’n Partial Summ.
J. (“Defs.’ Mem.”) 22, ECF No. 235. Defendants also cite Paul Sheriff, “a paraplegic himself,”
who conducted a “roll-through survey” to determine whether a unit is accessible and in
compliance with the FHAA. Id. 6 Such claims misstate the law and do not overcome the prima
facie case that arises from Defendants’ failure to adhere to the Guidelines.
Mr. Sheriff stated that he was able to access certain units and, on that basis, concluded
that Defendants had complied with the Act. Mr. Sheriff did not rely upon any accessibility

6

Mr. Sheriff’s report makes certain representations concerning the U.S. Department of
Justice that warrant correction or clarification. First, Mr. Sheriff states that “I am recognized by
the Civil Rights Section [sic] of the Department of Justice . . . as a qualified expert and
consultant.” Expert Report of Paul Sheriff 3, ECF No. 235-10. The Civil Rights Division has
not retained Mr. Sheriff as an expert or as a consultant. Second, Mr. Sheriff asserts that the
Department has accepted a device called “Wing Its” in lieu of “reinforcements in bathroom walls
to allow later installation of grab bars.” Id. at 9. While the Department has, under certain
circumstances, accepted this device as a substitute remedy as part of a negotiated settlement, this
does not absolve any defendant of liability for failing to install reinforcements during
construction, as the Act explicitly requires. See 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(C)(iii)(III). More
generally, agreements concerning retrofits in specific circumstances that are negotiated by the
United States in consent decrees do not constitute recognized “tolerances” that impact liability or
the scope of a defendant’s obligations under the Act.
9
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standards or take any measurements. See Expert Report of Paul Sheriff 9, ECF No. 235-10 (“I
do not rely on a tape measure for my assessment . . . I believe this is a much more effective
means of gauging actual accessibility than simply comparing measurements with the prescriptive
criteria of the safe harbors.”). This is the very type of individualized, subjective evidence that
courts have repeatedly rejected in determining whether a unit is accessible to persons with a
broad range of disabilities and physical limitations, as the Act requires. In Quality Built Constr.,
the court rejected an affidavit by a person with a disability who stated he could navigate a unit,
despite violations of the Guidelines:
[T]he Court believes that his testimony would have little bearing on the ultimate
issue in this case. Whether one disabled person may be able to maneuver through
the complex and units does not indicate compliance with the Act. This is
particularly true with respect to Mr. Curll [the disabled affiant]. As Plaintiff notes,
Mr. Curll is a wheelchair athlete and a former paralympian which seriously
undermines the position that his ability to maneuver through the units is
representative of the accessibility to disabled persons in general.
309 F. Supp. 2d at 772 n. 1.
Likewise, in Tanski, defendants submitted declarations from disabled residents who
claimed to be able to access the units. In rejecting these “wholly subjective declarations” as “not
probative on the question of whether the apartments are designed and constructed such that they
comply with [the Act],” the court held:
Neither the Fair Housing Act nor the HUD Guidelines support the view that
compliance may properly be evaluated by considering whether a particular
dwelling meets the needs of a particular handicapped tenant. Thus, the anecdotal
experiences of individual handicapped people residing in McGregor Village
Apartments do not raise a material question of fact regarding whether the
apartments were designed and constructed in compliance with the Fair Housing
Act. Moreover, none of the declarants has any expertise relevant to whether the
dwellings comply with objective accessibility requirements recognized by an
individual or organization with expertise in the field, and their submissions cannot
amount to an alternative way of demonstrating compliance with the requirements
of the Fair Housing Act.
10
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2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23606, at *43-44. See also Nelson, 2006 WL 4540542, at *7 (“[T]he
issue is not whether a specific person with a disability could access the property, but rather,
whether most persons with wheelchairs or other disabilities can utilize the property.”) (emphasis
in original).
Finally, the fact that Defendants characterize certain violations as “de minimis” (see
Defs.’ Mem. at 35) does not excuse Defendants’ liability or defeat partial summary judgment. In
United States v. Shanrie Co., defendants conceded that the slope of a part of a ramp did not
comply with the HUD Guidelines, but “brush[ed] it off as a ‘minor discrepancy’…” The court
noted that “[w]hile [defendant] Shiels may feel as though the violation is minor, it is a violation
nonetheless.” 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23587, at *39 n. 17.
5. Under the Act, Defendants Must Build Accessible Housing at the Time of
Design and Construction, and May Not Achieve Compliance by Making
Modifications Post-Occupancy_____________________________________
Defendants also claim that their non-compliance with the Guidelines or any other safe
harbor should be excused when an inaccessible feature may be corrected through what
Defendants describe as “quick, simple and inexpensive modifications.” Defs.’ Mem. at 16.
However, it is well-settled that builders may not satisfy the Act’s design and construction
requirements by agreeing to modify or correct otherwise non-accessible features upon request.
United States v. Shanrie Co., No. 05-CV-306-DRH, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96763, *11 (S.D. Ill.
Apr. 10, 2007) (“[T]his Court, like other courts, rejects Defendants’ proposal that certain repairs
be made only if requested.”); Baltimore Neighborhoods, Inc., 40 F. Supp. 2d at 707 (rejecting
argument that “adaptive design,” as used in the Act, means that “defendants are required only to
provide accessible features upon request.”); Mont. Fair Hous. v. Am. Capital Dev., 81 F. Supp.
11
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2d 1057, 1065 (D. Mont. 1999) (“adaptable design” is a “term of art, meaning design appropriate
for use by persons of all abilities without modification”).
A rule that allowed a builder effectively to ignore the Act’s affirmative accessibility
requirements, as long as the builder promised to make modifications on request, would
contravene the Act and its goal of expanding the availability of housing for persons with
disabilities. Nowhere does the Act provide that builders may disregard any or all of the Act’s
affirmative accessibility requirements because modifications may be made after completion of
construction. The Act’s accessibility requirements are intended to create “[t]ruly adaptable
units,” meaning units that “can be adjusted or adapted without renovation or structural change
because the basic accessible features like door widths and ground level entrance are already part
of the unit.” Phillips v. Downtown Affordables LLC, No. CV 06-00402, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
65603, *18 (D. Haw. Sept. 5, 2007) (emphasis in original) (quoting Barrier Free Environments,
Inc., HUD Office of Policy Dev. and Research, Adaptable Housing 8 (1987) & H.R. Rep. 100
711, at 27). Thus, contrary to Defendants’ allegations, the term “adaptable design,” as used in
the Act, does not excuse Defendants from failing to incorporate the Act’s design and
construction requirements into the initial design and construction of the housing. See Defs.’
Mem. at 14. Indeed, HUD considered and rejected a proposal that would require provision of
accessible features “to people with handicaps on a case-by-case basis.” See 56 Fed. Reg. 9474
76.
Furthermore, the Act already contains provisions requiring, upon request, reasonable
accommodations and modifications, which are separate and distinct from the Act’s affirmative
design and construction provisions. Compare 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604(f)(3)(A) & (B) with §
3604(f)(3)(C). Because this provision requires that disabled residents bear the expense of any
12
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modifications, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(A), the Act’s design and construction requirements are
intended to reduce the need for extensive modifications in new multifamily housing, such as
widening doors, removing thresholds or moving environmental controls. 7 Furthermore, a rule
that allowed developers to make modifications after the completion of construction would
typically be of little to no assistance to aftermarket buyers or renters with disabilities, who may
not be able even to enter the premises, much less occupy them, if the original occupant did not
ask for modifications. This hardly comports with the Act’s goal to “eliminate the barriers which
discriminate against persons with disabilities in their attempts to obtain equal housing
opportunities.” H.R. Rep. 100-711, at 27-28.
B. An Organizational Plaintiff Need Not Show that an Individual Buyer or Renter
Suffered Discrimination to State a Claim under the Act’s Design and
Construction Requirements____________________________________________
Defendants argue that Plaintiff cannot prove a violation of 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(3)(C)
unless it can show that an individual was denied housing at the eight properties due to disability.
Defs.’ Mem. at 8-9. The Court previously rejected this argument by holding that Plaintiff has
shown an injury-in-fact establishing its standing to pursue its claims against Defendants,
notwithstanding the lack of an individual discrimination victim. Equal Rights Ctr. v. Equity
Residential, 798 F. Supp. 2d 707, 723-24 (D. Md. 2011) (citing Havens, 455 U.S. at 379). In any
event, “a ‘failure to design and construct’ under § 3604(f)(3) is ‘a discrete instance of
discrimination’ independent of §§ 3604(f)(1) and 3604(f)(2).” HUD v. Nelson, 320 F. App’x at
367 (quoting Garcia v. Brockway, 526 F.3d 456, 461-62 (9th Cir. 2008)); see also Nat’l Fair
Hous. Alliance v. A.G. Spanos Constr., 542 F. Supp. 2d 1054, 1061 (N.D. Cal. 2008) (“[T]he
7

Of course, when such features are incorporated into a unit’s original design and
construction, the costs are minimal. See H.R. Rep. 100-711, at 27 (requirements are “easy to
incorporate in housing design and construction.”).
13
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construction of each complex constitutes an actionable violation of the FHA.”). Even if it were
not, this standard is easily met because violations of the Act’s design and construction
requirements unquestionably “otherwise make unavailable or deny” housing based on disability
and impose discriminatory “terms, conditions and privileges” based on disability. 42 U.S.C. §§
3604(f)(1)(A), (f)(2). 8

8

All but one of the cases cited by Defendants is either a Ninth Circuit decision or a
decision of a district court within the Ninth Circuit. Defs.’ Mem. Opp’n Partial Summ. J. at 8-9.
Each pre-dates the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Nelson. Furthermore, all of the cases cited by
Defendants involve whether a particular individual has standing to seek relief. None holds that
an organizational plaintiff may not proceed with a design and construction claim in the absence
of an individual discrimination victim. To the contrary, the court in Housing Investors, Inc. v.
City of Clanton, 68 F. Supp. 2d 1287 (M.D. Ala. 1999), found that while the individual plaintiff
lacked standing, the organizational plaintiff did have standing and could proceed with its claim.
Id. at 1294.
14
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IV. CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated above, the United States respectfully submits that: 1) a showing
that Defendants violated the HUD Fair Housing Guidelines constitutes a prima facie case of
discrimination under the Act’s design and construction requirements, which may be overcome
only through compliance with a comparable, objective accessibility standard; and 2) Plaintiff
need not show that an individual buyer or renter was denied housing to state a claim under the
Act’s design and construction requirements.

Dated: November 13, 2014.
Respectfully submitted,
VANITA GUPTA
Acting Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division
s/ Max Lapertosa____________
STEVEN H. ROSENBAUM
Chief
SAMEENA MAJEED
Deputy Chief
MAX LAPERTOSA
Trial Attorney
United States Department of Justice
Civil Rights Division
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section
950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW
Northwestern Building, 7th Floor
Washington, DC 20530
Phone: (202) 305-1077
Fax:
(202) 514-1116
Email: Max.Lapertosa@usdoj.gov

15

Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245 Filed 11/13/14 Page 16 of 16

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that on November 13, 2014, I filed the foregoing document and all
attachments entitled Statement of Interest of the United States of America via the Court’s
CM/ECF system, which shall send notice to all counsel of record via electronic mail.

s/ Max Lapertosa____________

Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 1 of 28

Exhibit 1

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 1 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 2 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 2 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 3 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 3 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 4 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 4 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 5 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 5 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 6 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 6 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 7 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 7 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 8 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 8 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 9 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 9 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 10 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 10 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 11 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 11 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 12 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 12 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 13 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 13 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 14 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 14 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 15 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 15 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 16 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 16 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 17 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 17 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 18 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 18 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 19 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 19 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 20 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 20 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 21 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 21 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 22 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 22 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 23 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 23 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 24 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 24 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 25 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 25 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 26 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 26 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 27 of 28

Case 2:01-cv-02069-BBD-tmp Document 505
Filed 04/27/2004 Page 27 of 27
Case 1:06-cv-01060-CCB Document 245-1 Filed 11/13/14 Page 28 of 28

